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Thomas Sheehan

Friendly Fascism: Business as
Usual in America’s Backyard

I tremble for my country when I reflect that God is just. Thomas Jefferson

November, 1989. The war in El Salvador—America’s longest and most
expensive military engagement since Vietnam—had been dragging on
for nine years.!

For Salvadorans the devastation was catastrophic. By the end of the
war (January 1992) more than seventy-five thousand Salvadoran citi-
zens—1.5 percent of the country’s population—would be dead from
the conflict, the majority murdered by right-wing death squads. The
proportional equivalent within the United States would be 3.75 ‘mil-
lion American citizens dead: the combined populations of San Fran-
cisco, Dallas, Denver, St. Louis, Atlanta, and Washington bc. Of those
cities, the last four would have had their entire populations wiped out
by death squads.2

By fall 1989 it was the virtually unanimous opinion of the U.S. me-
dia that democracy had been restored to El Salvador. El Salvador had
held five elections, sponsored and overseen by the United States and
certified by the American media as free and fair. But the slaughter con-
tinued. Meanwhile, negotiations between Salvador’s right-wing gov-
ernment and the Farabundo Marti National Liberation Front (FMLN]
were dragging on. Everyone in El Salvador was weary of the war, most
Americans had forgotten about it, and the U.S. Congress seemed to
have lost all interest.

Then it happened.

Saturday, 11 November 1989, 8:00 p.M.: While Salvador’s elite dined
and danced at the lush El Camino Real Hotel—their bulletproof Jeeps
outside and their armed guards nearby—suddenly the guerrillas were ev-
erywhere. Not out in the countryside where you usually found them—
Chalatenango, Guazapa, Morazan—but all over the capital city, at-
tacking the headquarters of the First Infantry Brigade, mortaring the
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National Guard Headquarters, attacking the Presidential Palace and
even the private home of Salvador’s president, Alfredo Cristiani.

And they were not just attacking government positions; they were
also holding large and heavily populated barrios in the northern and
eastern sections of the capital city: Mejicanos, Zacamil, and Soya-
pango. Within hours up to three thousand guerrillas were deeply en-
trenched in nearly a third of San Salvador and were attacking the army
in middle-class neighborhoods in the south and west of the city.?

The army, caught off guard and barely holding its own, declared a
state of siege. As FMLN attacks continued through the weekend with
no sign of abating, the chief of staff of El Salvador’s High Command,
Col. René Emilio Ponce, feared the game might be up. It was time for
extraordinary measures.

On Monday, 13 November, Colonel Ponce, with the permission of
President Cristiani, ordered soldiers of the Atlacatl Battalion, trained
by U.S. Green Berets, to enter the campus of the Jesuit university, the
University of Central America {uca), in the southwest section of the
capital city. Their mission was supposedly to search the Jesuits’ resi-
dence for weapons and subversive material.#

Since the late 1970s the Jesuit university had been the target of fre-
quent bombings and machine-gun attacks from right-wing groups. It
was also the object of verbal attacks from the military. On 20 April
1989, the vice minister of defense, Col. Juan Orlando Zepeda, called
the uca “a refuge for terrorist leaders, where strategies are mapped out
for attacks against Salvadorans.”s Col. Inocente Montano, vice minis-
ter for public security, had also accused the Jesuits of being guerrilla
leaders, if for no other reason than that Father Ignacio Ellacuria, the
president of the university, was actively working for a negotiated solu-
tion to the nine-year conflict. When the 11 November offensive began,
the army forced all Salvadoran radio stations to suspend their own
broadcasting and to carry only the army’s signal. The army then
opened its channel to unnamed callers who voiced violent accusations
against Ellacuria and even demands for his death.¢

Born in Spain in 1930, Ellacuria had studied with the most famous
Catholic theologian of the century, Karl Rahner, and had received his
doctorate in philosophy undet the renowned Spanish thinker Xavier
Zubiri. He joined the uca in the 1960s and became chairman of the
philosophy department. From November 1979 on, he served as the
ucA'’s president.’

Those were the years of growing repression in El Salvador, and Ella-
curia was uncompromising in his denunciations of government and
army injustices. Those were also the years when liberation theology
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was having its strongest effect in Latin America, and Ellacuria was one
of its most powerful voices. None of this was lost on the U.S. State De-
partment or the government of El Salvador.

The Atlacatl Battalion’s search of the Jesuit living quarters on Monday,
13 November, turned up nothing subversive, nor was that its purpose.
Rather, the soldiers took careful note of where each priest slept, and
they positively identified the main object of the search, Ignacio Ella-
curia, who had just returned from a trip to Europe. Ellacuria invited
them to return the next day to look further, but they did not. Their
search of the residence had nothing to do with searching for arms. It
was reconnaissance for a mission they would carry out two days later.?

Intense fighting continued in the capital city, and by late Wednes-
day, 15 November, the situation was critical. Many Salvadoran mili-
tary leaders were close to panic, and one American advisor compared
the situation to the fall of Saigon.? At 6:30 .M. Colonel Ponce and the
High Command met at army headquarters with two dozen high-rank-
ing officers to plan urgent strategy. The High Command decided to
bomb guerrilla-held neighborhoods and attack them with tanks. They
also decided to eliminate all known or presumed leftists and rebel
sympathizers in sections of San Salvador still under army control—Ila-
bor leaders, popular organizers, virtually anyone they considered sus-
picious.

That included the Jesuits. Colonel Ponce ordered Col. Guillermo
Benavides, the head of the Military Academy and the man responsible
for security in the university area, to have Ignacio Ellacuria murdered
and to leave no witnesses. Benavides was to send the Atlacatl unit that
had searched the priests’ living quarters on Monday.

Colonel Ponce called President Cristiani to High Command head-
quarters to brief him on the army’s decision to take extraordinary mea-
sures. Cristiani would remain with the commanders at military head-
quarters from around 11:00 P.M. until 2:00 A.M.—that is, throughout
the period when the Jesuits were being murdered less than a mile
away. Some think the High Command informed him of that operation
too. Cristiani denies it.!®

Back in his office at the Military Academy, Colonel Benavides chose
Lt. Ricardo Espinoza and 2d Lt. Gonzalo Guevara to see that the mur-
ders were carried out. Accompanying them and overseeing the job
would be Benavides’s close collaborator, Lt. Yusshy Mendoza.!!

Espinoza hand-picked a group of elite Atlacatl commandos to do the
job. Just three days earlier these men had been receiving special train-
ing from thirteen U.S. Green Berets at Sitio del Nifio, outside the capi-
tal city. The course included instruction in high-tech nighttime opera-
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tions. To help in their mission to kill the Jesuits the commandos took
with them the night-vision goggles of their American trainers.!>

As midnight passed, the commandos, forty-seven in all, gathered by
the gate of the Military Academy. The first wave left the grounds in
two Ford pick-up trucks and drove to an assembly pointina residential
neighborhood outside the west gate of the university. Minutes later
they were joined by the remainder of their group.

The plan was laid out. Three hundred soldiers from another group
would surround the university. Then the commandos would enter the
campus and regroup near the priests’ residence. Of those, seven would
have a direct role in getting the Jesuits. Lieutenant Mendoza made it
clear the key assassin would be commando Oscar Amaya, nicknamed
“The Hangman.” To make it seem the FmLN had committed the
crimes, Amaya would use an Ax-47 captured from the guerrillas.

About 1:00 A.M. the designated group forced the lock on the gate and
entered the campus. The moon was out, and not all of the commandos
needed night-vision goggles. They regrouped in a parking lot opposite
the priests’ residence and then spread out to surround the two-story
building. The seven handpicked men forced their way in, some by scal-
ing a low wall that marked off the garden. They then made their way
through the same corridors they had searched two days before and or-
dered the priests out of the building and into the garden behind.

Oscar Amaya, carrying the Ak-47, and Antonio Avalos, armed with
an American-made M-16, forced the five Jesuits to lie face down on the
grass:

Ignacio Ellacuria, president of the university, distinguished professor of philoso-
phy, honorary doctorates from Santa Clara University {1982) and Loyola Univer-
sity of Chicago (1986); -
Ignacio Martin-Barg, vice president of the university, professor of sociology, Ph.D.,
University of Chicago (1979);

Segundo Montes, professor of sociology, chairman of the university’s human rights
institute {IDHUCA), just back from a human rights conference in Washington pc;
Amando Lépez, professor of theology, former president of the Jesuit university in
Nicaragua; and

Juan Ramén Moreno, spiritual director and professor of theology.

Espinoza and Mendoza, the two lieutenants in charge of the opera-
tion, seemed uneasy. They had their orders, but they also wanted to
maintain personal deniability. They held back so that underlings
would take responsibility for doing the job. Mendoza even left the
scene with the excuse of searching for more subversives in the Jesuits’
kitchen. Espinoza, from whom the soldiers awaited the order to kill,
hovered in the background by the gate to the priests’ residence.
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Amaya and Avalos also seemed to balk at doing what was expected.
Espinoza called Avalos over and, with intentional vagueness, asked,
“When are you going to get on with it?” Avalos returned to his position
and told Amaya, “Let’s get on with it.”

A second of silence. Then he and Amaya blasted away at the priests’
heads, splattering their brains over the lawn and up onto the wall of
the house.3

The soldiers had been ordered to leave no witnesses. In a building adja-
cent to the Jesuit residence they had found the priests’ housekeeper,
Elba Ramos, with her sixteen-year-old daughter Celina huddled in her
arms. Commando Tomds Zarpate stood guard over them in their
room. When he heard the blasts of fire outside, he shot them both until
(in his own words) “they no longer groaned.”

At that point a sixth Jesuit, the frail, seventy-one-year-old Father
Joaquin Lépez y Lopez, emerged into the garden, saw his murdered
companions on the grass, and turned to go back in, telling the soldiers
not to kill him. One of them shot him in the back and he fell into a
room. Commando Angel Pérez decided to inspect the room. As he
stepped over the bloodsoaked body, he felt Father Lopez’s feeble hand
grope at his feet. Pérez stepped back and shot him four times.

Inside the building other soldiers were trashing the priests’ offices,
smashing windows, burning books, scattering documents. One of
them found a briefcase containing five thousand dollars, a cash award
for the uca that Father Ellacuria had just brought back from Europe.
The soldiers stole it.

Their job done, the commandos were leaving the scene when they
heard moans from inside one of the rooms. It was the death rattles of
Elba and Celina Ramos. The soldiers hesitated. They knew the women
would soon die, but they had been ordered to leave no witnesses. They
radioed the High Command and asked what to do. A direct order—
from Colonel Zepeda, vice minister of defense, according to many—
came back over the radio: “Remdtenlas” (Finish them off]. Commando
José Sierra was sent back in. He found the two women lying in a pool of
blood, still groaning. He finished them off.

The eight bodies were found at dawn. The High Command imme-
diately charged the murders to the FMLN.

Later that afternoon, a sound truck from the Salvadoran Army’s
First Infantry Brigade passed in front of the offices of the archdiocese of
San Salvador, proclaiming in Spanish, “Ellacuria and Martin-Baro are
finished. We are going to continue killing Communists.”}>
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Can one offer a definition of fascism that fits the topic of America’s
1981—91 war in El Salvador? Or is one constrained to invoke, analo-
gously, Justice Potter Stewart’s dictum about hard-core pornography:
1 can’t define it, but I know it when I see it”216

In the end we may be persuaded that our Central American War of
1981—91 was not an exercise in fascism stricte dicta—for surely the
United States is not a fascist country, and neither the Reagan nor the
Bush administration was a fascist regime. But if America’s war in El
Salvador was not an exercise in fascism, it will just have to do until the
real thing comes along.'”

This chapter is less about El Salvador than it is about the United
States’s role in that country. It is less about the murder of Ignacio Ella-
curia and his companions than about what those murders stand for.

How could Ellacuria, this “incandescent intellectual of world repu-
tation,”® who was regularly consulted by the U.S. embassy in El Sal-
vador, who was a known and respected presence in the corridors of the
U.S. Senate and House of Representatives, whose extensive writings
on the Salvadoran situation were read and appreciated both in the
State Department and the cta—how could he and the best of his uni-
versity faculty be murdered in cold blood by elite commandos armed
and outfitted by the United States and trained by U.S. Special Forces?
But weren’t those commandos simply carrying out the orders of their
superior officers, who themselves had been trained at Fort Benning,
Georgia, and who served with the support and blessings of the U.S. em-
bassy, the State Department, and the Pentagon?

And after the crime, how could the responsibility for the deaths of
Ellacuria and his companions be covered up for months, and the per-
petrators shielded, all with the knowledge and cooperation of the staff
of the U.S. embassy and the U.S. Military Group in El Salvador??®

Perhaps the murder of Ignacio Ellacuria and his seven companions
can tell us something of what the United States was about in the 1980s
(the way the murder of Giacomo Matteotti laid bare what Italy was
about in the 1920s): how the United States aided and abetted a system-
atically murderous Salvadoran regime, paid its bills, trained its killers,
protected its criminals, covered its tracks, and, when it no longer
needed that sorry country, abandoned it to its own fate.

The war in El Salvador was our war, and its dead are our dead, since
with or without our consent, we Americans financed that bloody con-
flict, bankrolling the army and government of El Salvador to the tune
of $6 billion {twice the cost of the Reagan-Bush adventure in Afghan-
istan?0), training, arming, and advising not only El Salvador’s regular
soldiers but also the members of its paramilitary and security forces—
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many of whom in fact operated as members of death squads—and
even training them in how to torture.2!

And it was our war because we not only paid for it, but also micro-
managed its logistics. El Salvador’s President Duarte complained
about that very matter in an extended interview published in Playboy
in 1984.

praysoy: Do the American military advisers also tell you how to run the war?
PUARTE: This is the problem, no? The root of this problem is that the aid is given
under such conditions that its use is really decided by the Americans and not by us.
Decisions like how many planes or helicopters we buy, how we spend our money,
how many trucks we need, how many bullets and of what caliber, how many pairs
of boots and where our priorities should be—all of that. . . . And all the money is
spent over there {in the United States]. We never see a penny of it, because every-
thing arrives here already paid for.22

By calling this “our war” Irefer notjust to the overt conflict in El Sal-
vador, but also to the secret war waged here at home against American
citizens who opposed the Reagan administration’s policies. The war at
home included a nationwide and well-documented program of break-
ins, FBI surveillance, and wiretaps carried out against groups and pri-
vate individuals who exercised their First Amendment rights by pro-
testing the financing and direction of the Central American war.Ishall
return to this later.

During the 1980s, Central America in general and El Salvador and Nic-
aragua in particular were a major focus of President Reagan’s foreign
policy. But the roots of this cathexis on Central America go back at
least as far as President John F. Kennedy, who seemed to have discov-
ered the cause of backwardness in the area. “Communism,” he de-
clared, “is the chief obstacle to economic development in the Central
American region.”?3

To set things right, Kennedy in 1963 organized and chaired a summit
of six Central American countries in Costa Rica, an event Allan Nairn,
writing in 1984, described as the beginning of “a basic, bipartisan,
institutional commitment on the part of six American Administra-
tions—a commitment to guard the Salvadoran regime against the
prospect that its people might organize in ways unfriendly to that re-
gime or to the United States.”*

The Costa Rican summit, which culminated in the “Declaration of
San José” (19 March 1963), led to a series of subsequent meetings at
which the minister of the interior of each of the Central American re-
publics committed his country to setting up and coordinating “na-
tional security” programs. With the help of the cia and a1p, and under
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the direction of the U.S. State Department, each country would even-
tually reorganize its police and security forces to smoke out and elimi-
nate people loosely defined as “subversives.” In that regard, the crucial
passage in the “Declaration of San Jos€” states: “IT]he Presidents de-
clare that in order to carry out their programs for social and economic
betterment, it is essential to reinforce the measures to meet subver-
sive aggression originating in the focal points of Communist agitation
which Soviet imperialism may maintain in Cuba or in any other place
in America.”?®

In El Salvador, an important product of that commitment was
ORDEN (Organizacién Democratica Nacionalista) and ANSESAL (Agen-
cia Nacional de Seguridad Salvadorena), the combined intelligence
network and death squad operation the United States began organiz-
ing there in the 1960s.2¢ To lead ORDEN, the U.S. turned to the director
of El Salvador’s feared National Guard, Col. José Alberto Medrano,
whom Jose Napoledn Duarte, the president of El Salvador from 1984 to
1988, would call “the father of the Death Squads, the chief assassin of
them all.”?’

In 1983 Medrano acknowledged that his organization was the brain-
child of the United States. oRDEN and ANSESAL, he said, “grew out of
the State Department, the c1a, and the Green Berets during the time of
Kennedy. We created these specialized agencies to fight the plans and
actions of international Communism.”28

The organization and training of the organization was supervised by
Green Beret Col. Arthur Simons, who at the time was head of the 8th
Special Forces Group in Panama. Colonel Simon had earlier served in
Laos as a Special Forces commander and then at Fort Bragg as chief of
staff at the Army Special Warfare Center. Simon sent Green Berets to
El Salvador to train a team of Salvadoran commandos, including Col.
Domingo Monterrosa, the man who would later be held responsible
for the most horrible crime of the war, the 1981 massacre at El Mozote.

According to Amnesty International, the purpose of ORDEN was “to
use clandestine terror against government opponents.”? The U.S. em-
bassy in El Salvador acknowledged the charges in a now declassified
document dated 2 April 1979:

It has also been alleged that elements of ORDEN, either in conjunction with legally
constituted security forces or acting on their own initiative, have taken violent, re-
pressive actions against the church, campesino, and labor groups in the country-
side.

According to Amnesty International findings, ORDEN was responsible for many
of the most brutal human rights violations of the Molina period [Col. Arturo Mo-
lina, president 1972—77|—e.g., unexplained disappearances, assassinations of Cath-
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olic priests, murder of political opposition members, and beatings and intimida-
tions at the polling places of voters seeking to cast a ballot for opposition parties.30

The cable also admitted the accuracy of the charges. However, it
glossed over the issue with exquisite delicacy, referring to death squad
operations simply as “surreptitious action” and expressing no particu-
lar concern about the matter: “Obviously the military government
perceives a threat from a variety of groups and has undoubtedly tried
on occasion to suppress such groups through surreptitious action.
ORDEN forces have probably been used for this purpose in the past and
may be utilized in certain instances again.”3!

According to its own self-description, ORDEN’s goal was to ferret out
suspected Communists among Salvador’s rural poor. As Medrano put
it, “You discover the Communist by the way he talks. Generally, he
speaks against Yankee imperialism, he speaks against the oligarchy, he
speaks against military men. We can spot them easily.”32 President
Ford’s ambassador to El Salvador, Ignacio E. Lozano Jr., explained this
policy of discovering “Communists” everywhere: “I suppose to a large
extentitis our own fault, because we in the United States made such a
big thing about Communism as a real threat to Latin America for such
along period. If you are against [the ruling powers], or if you disapprove
of what they are doing, they label you a Communist.”33

ORDEN'’s central office, located within El Salvador’s presidential pal-
ace, was staffed by eighty analysts whose job was to study reports from
the countryside and pass them on to ANSEsaL—with predictably le-
thal results. As former U.S. Ambassador to El Salvador Raul H. Castro
revealed, the murders of suspected Communists were usually carried
out by orDEN death squads using the name “Mano Blanco” {“White
Hand”). Updating the procedure into the 1980s, Colonel Medrano ac-
knowledged, “In this revolutionary war, the enemy comes from our
people. They don’t have the rights of Geneva. They are traitors to the
country. What can the troops do? When they find them, they kill
them.”34

ORDEN and its cognate paramilitary and military groups in El Sal-
vador were little different from other death squads that functioned
with U.S. supervision throughout Central America. In Honduras, for
example, death squad operations were carried out by Army Battalion
3-16, commanded by Gen. Luis Alonso Discua Elvir with the support
and supervision of cia operatives. Battalion 3-16 has been charged
with the torture and murder of hundreds of Hondurans during the
1980s when the United States used Honduras as the staging ground for
its contra war against Nicaragua. More than twenty-five clandestine
cemeteries, filled with the Battalion’s victims, have since been discov-
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ered in that country. As the New York Times has reported, “Members
of Battalion 3-16, including [General] Discua, got support and training
from the American military and from the Central Intelligence Agency,
which also paid officers as informants.”35

Discua, having successfully defied arrest warrants for human rights
abuses in his own country, has since been appointed to Honduras’s dip-
lomatic corps at the United Nations in New York City.

By 1979 much of Central America was in revolt. In July 1979 the Sandi-
nistas overthrew the fifty-year dictatorship of the Somoza family; and
on 10 January 1981, the week before Ronald Reagan was sworn in as
president, revolution broke out in El Salvador.

Minuscule El Salvador, 150 miles long by 5o miles wide, is even to-
day less a country than a fiefdom, where 2 percent of the population
own 70 percent of the arable land, 20 percent earn less than two hun-
dred dollars a year, and 60 percent are illiterate.3¢ As with the more re-
cent peasant uprising in Chiapas, the revolution in El Salvador was
prompted by a desperate need for basic necessities like land, food, and
respect for human rights.

Even José Napole6n Duarte, the Reagan administration’s hand-picked
candidate for the Salvadoran presidency and himself a fervent anticom-
munist, saw matters that way. Three weeks before Reagan took office,
Duarte told a New York Times reporter why he thought the guerrillas
were fighting the government: “Fifty years of lies, fifty years of injustice,
fifty years of frustration. This is a history of people starving to death,
living in misery. For fifty years the same people had all the power, all
the money, all the jobs, all the education, all the opportunities.”3

Add to that what a Rand Corporation report called the Salvadoran
military’s “almost uncanny ability to turn citizens into enemies” by
“lequating] the government'’s critics with the enemy, repressing trade
unionists, campesino leaders, opposition politicians, and student pro-
testers with the same or more force than they use on the insurgents.”38

In 1980 the State Department’s Human Rights desk likewise viewed
the problem as a matter of social injustice rather than external com-
munist aggression. Patricia M. Derian, Assistant Secretary for Human
Rights in the Carter administration, declared, “Those who study El

Salvador know that the problem is home-grown and has been building
to the present crisis for many years.”3 Robert White, U.S. ambassador
to El Salvador from March 1980 until he was ousted by Reagan on 1
February 1981, concurred. “Whether Cuba existed or not, you would
still have a revolutionary situation in El Salvador,” he said in January
1981. “The revolution situation came about in El Salvador because he
had one of the most selfish oligarchies the world has ever seen, com-
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bined with a corrupt security force.”® Three years later, in testimony
before the House Committee on Foreign Affairs, White asserted:

Any formulation of a national policy toward Central America must begin with the
recognition that conditions in most of Central America justify recourse to revolu-
tion. This is especially true of El Salvador. Even the excesses of the despotic, venal
Somoza clan in Nicaragua pale in comparison with the brutal, starvation existence
imposed on the Salvadoran campesinos and workers by the economic and military
elites.!

The Catholic Archbishop of San Salvador, Oscar Romero, identified
El Salvador’s problems with the unjust structures of the wealth in the
country:

The cause of the evil here is the oligarchy, a small nucleus of families that does not ,

care about the hunger of our people. . . . To maintain and increase their margin of
profits, they repress the people. . . .

They are not yet used to seeing the face of a church converted to the poor. To raise
the question of the rights of the poor is to call into question the whole established
order. That is why they have no other category for us but that of subversives.#2

He accused the oligarchy of “possessing the land that belongs to all
Salvadorans” and advised:

Again, in the name of our people and our church, I call on them to hear the voice of
God and joyously share their power and wealth with all, instead of provoking a civil
war that will bathe us in blood. There is still time to take the rings from their fingers
before they lose the hand. . . .

Let them share what they are and have. Let them not keep on silencing with vio-
lence the voiceé of those of us who offer this invitation. Let them not keep on killing
those of us who are trying to achieve a more just sharing of the power and wealth of
our country. I speak in the first person, because this week I received notice that Tam
on the list of those who are to be eliminated next week. But let it be known that no
one can any longer kill the voice of justice,

Finally, on 23 March 1980, he appealed to the enlisted men of the army
and security forces:

The campesinos you are killing are your own brothers and sisters. . . . No one has to
obey an immoral law. It is time to take back your consciences and to obey them
rather than sinful orders. . . . In the name of God and in the name of this suffering
people whose cries rise to heaven each day more loudly, I beg you, I beseech you, 1
order you in the name of God: Stop the repression!

The next day Romero was murdered, shot in the chest while saying
Mass. At his funeral six days later, Salvadoran Security Forces fired
without warning on the crowd of mourners gathered on the cathedral
steps. Thirty-nine people were killed, and more than two hundred
wounded. Two days on later, 1 April 1980, the United States sent $5.7
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million in riot control equipment to El Salvador—jeeps, communica-
tions equipment, and night-vision devices—in order (as an adminis-
tration spokesman put it at the time) to strengthen the army’s key role
in reforms.

When Ronald Reagan took office in January 1981, he saw red in Cen-
tral America. As he put it, “revolution has been exported to that area
and by design.”* An Administration White Paper published on 23 Feb-
ruary 1981 called the revolution in El Salvador “a textbook case of indi-
rect armed aggression by Communist powers through Cuba.”#

For Mr. Reagan, El Salvador was part of a global, East-West struggle,
and the problems of the country were caused not primarily by poverty
and repression but by the encroachments of international commu-
nism. The EMLN rebels, in his view, “aren’t just aiming at El Salvador
but, I think, are aiming at the whole of Central and possibly later
South America and, I'm sure, eventually North America.”#6In 1983 he
warned a Joint Session of Congress: “If we cannot defend ourselves [in
El Salvador] we cannot expect to prevail elsewhere. Our credibility
would collapse, our alliances would crumble and the safety of our
homeland would be put in jeopardy.”*

This re-evocation of Richard Nixon'’s image of the United Statesas a
“pitiful, helpless giant”*® being made a fool of by Lilliputian Sal-
vadoran rebels, apparently convinced many in the United States. Dur-
ing the ten years of the war the U.S. Treasury poured into El Salvador {a
country that would fit inside Illinois seven times) an average of $1.5
million per day, thereby making that country the third largest recip-
ient per capita of American foreign aid during the Reagan-Bush years.
And it seemed that the Reagan Administration knew roughly as much
about El Salvador in the 1980s as the Johnson Administration did about
Indochina in the 1960s.%°

The administration’s 1981 White Paper had called El Salvador a
“textbook case” of communist aggression through Cuba. However,
both American and Salvadoran officials eventually acknowledged that
they had no solid evidence in 1981 that Cuba or Nicaragua (not tomen-
tion the Soviet Union) were supplying military aid to the Salvadoran
insurgents. In fact, by the end of 1983 the largest supplier of weapons to
the Salvadoran guerrilias was President Reagan himself, since up to 20
percent of the light weaponry and ordinance he sent to the Salvadoran
army was being captured by the FMLN in combat.50

The work of Father Ellacuria and other liberation theologians was a
matter of great concern in Washington during the 1980s, not least in ul-
traconservative think tanks like the Council for Inter-American Secu-
rity (c1s). In the spring of 1980, five cis members authored the widely
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publicized “Santa Fe Report” for the Republican presidential candi-
date, Ronald Reagan 5!

The fifty-three-page document, a blueprint for Central American
policy in a new Republican administration, had considerable influ-
ence on the Reagan team. Three of its four authors went on to serve the
Reagan administration: Lt. Gen. Gordon Sumner Jr. as special advisor
to the assistant secretary of state for inter-American affairs; Roger Fon-
taine as a National Security Council Latin America specialist; and
Lewis Tambs as a consultant to the National Security Council up to
1983, then as U.S. ambassador to Colombia from 1983 to 1985 and to
Costa Rica from July 1985 to January 1987.52

Extraordinarily alarmist in tone and content, the Santa Fe Report
demonstrated an enormous preoccupation with the specter of com-
munism in Central America. It viewed the hemisphere as “penetrated
by Soviet power.” It saw the Caribbean as “spotted with Soviet surro-
gates and ringed with socialist states” and fast “becoming a Marxist-
Leninist lake,” and it deemed America to be “everywhere in retreat.””s3

In keeping with this apocalyptic vision, the report addressed not just
the question of “External Military Threat” to the hemisphere but also
“Internal Subversion.” Accusing the Carter administration of neglect-
ing communist expansion while overthrowing noncommunist re-
gimes, the report went on to make a number of policy proposals regard-
ing “Internal Subversion,” among them the following:

Proposal 1: that the in-coming Republican administration distance itself from the
Carter State Department’s “policy of attacking anti-Communist governments for
alleged human rights violations.” . . .

Proposal 4: The United States must reject the mistaken assumption that one can
easily locate and impose U.S. style democratic alternatives to authoritarian govern-
ments and the equally pervasive belief that change per se in such situations is inevi-
table, desirable, and in the American interest. This belief has induced the Carter
Administration to participate actively in the toppling of non-Communist authori-
tarians while remaining passive in the face of Communist expansion.

Proposal 5: Human rights, which is a culturally and politically relative concept
[sic] that the present Administration has used for intervention for political change
in countries of this hemisphere, adversely affecting the peace, stability and security
of the region, must be abandoned and replaced by a non-interventionist policy of po-
litical and ethical realism.

I save Proposal 3 for last:

U.S. foreign policy must begin to counter [not react against) liberation theology as it
is utilized in Latin America by the “liberation theology” clergy.

The role of the church in Latin America is vital to the concept of political free-
dom. Unfortunately, Marxist-Leninist forces have utilized the church as a political
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weapon against private property and productive capitalism by infiltrating the reli-
gious community with ideas that are less Christian than Communist.5

As Father Ignacio Ellacuria was fond of pointing out, these were pro-
posals the Reagan administration took to heart. Beginning in January
1981 the new team in the State Department shifted the driving force of
its policy in the region from an emphasis on the “culturally and politi-
cally relative concept” of “human rights” to a focus on international
communism.5?

In one of its more cynical moves, the administration appointed as its
assistant secretary of state for human rights none other than Elliot
Abrams. William F. Buckley made the point when he recalled a conver-
sation he had once had with Mr. Abrams about a hypothetical situa-
tion involving human rights: “’What would you do if you were told by
the Secretary of State to cool it in your report on human rights in, say,
Sri Lanka?’ I asked him on television. Mr. Abrams said that what he
would do would be to cool it.”56

The administration also turned up the heat on liberation theology.
Among other things, this resulted in the hearings on “Marxism and
Christianity in Revolutionary Central America,” held by the U.S. Sen-
ate’s Subcommittee on Security and Terrorism, 18—19 October 1983.
The sessions, chaired by ultraconservative senator Jeremiah Denton
of Alabama, featured the testimony of right-wing contra supporters
who made wild and unsubstantiated claims to the effect that libera-
tion theologians preached that there was no God and that Jesus had
never existed.5” All of this might be quite humorous, were it not for the
fact that people in Central America get murdered when such absur-
dities, sworn to under oath and appearing in the Congressional Record,
are repeated in army barracks in places like El Salvador.

To take only one example: On 19 October 1983 the Subcommittee
on Security and Terrorism heard one Miguel Bolafios-Hunter swear
under oath that a Maryknoll sister, Maura Clarke, had run safehouses
for Sandinista guerrillas during the Nicaraguan revolution and was so
good at it that the communists sent her to El Salvador to continue her
activities there.

As it turns out, Sister Maura Clarke was not in or even near Nicara-
gua during the revolution. She spent those three and a half years (from
January 1977 through June 1980} entirely in the United States, inter-
rupted by only a brief family visit to Ireland.

True, in August of 1980 her Maryknoll superiors sent Maura Clarke
to El Salvador to help refugees who were fleeing army sweeps and
death squad activities in the northern province of Chalatenango. After
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she had worked only a few weeks with the refugees, Col. Ricardo Pena
Arbaiza, the commanding officer in nearby Chalatenango City, labeled
Clarke and another sister “subversives” simply because they were
working with the poor.?®8 Shortly thereafter, on 2 December 1980,
Maura Clarke and three other religious women were kidnapped, raped,
and murdered by Salvadoran soldiers acting on higher orders.

At the time of the murders Jeanne J. Kirkpatrick, President Reagan’s
appointee to be ambassador to the United Nations, characterized the
four dead women as “leftists”—as if that justified or mitigated the
crimes.® And Secretary of State Haig testified before Congress that
the four women “may have tried to run a roadblock, or may have been
perceived to be doing that, and there was an exchange of fire.”

Note that phrase: “an exchange of fire.” Mr. Haig was suggesting the
nuns were shooting back at the soldiers, wild west fashion, after they
had crashed their van through a military checkpoint—even though, as
Secretary Haig well knew, the evidence showed that the nuns were
first raped, and then shot point-blank, one of them in the chest and
three of them in the back of the head.s!

During the Iran-Contra hearings of 1987, Elliot Abrams was asked
whether an earlier statement of his was not perhaps a lie. Abrams an-
swered, “It depends what you mean by lying.” He then went on to dis-
tinguish between lying and intentionally leaving a false impression,

In any case, whether it is lying or leaving a false impression,
whether it is secretly murdering priests and nuns or blatantly massa-
cring hundreds of peasants, whether it is actively burglarizing the of-
fices of American citizens or merely spying on them-—sooner or later,
we are told, the truth will out. And so it has.

On 15 March 1993 the United Nations published its Truth Commis-
sion Report on El Salvador, detailing what happened and who was re-
sponsible for a dozen years of violence in El Salvador: massacres of
peasants, the murder of the Jesuits, various “extrajudicial executions”
and “enforced disappearances” (read: death squad murders), and so on.

Much if not all of the story is there. For example, the U.N. Report
details how, during a three-day sweep through Morazin department
{ro—12 December 1981}, Col. Domingo Monterrosa and his Atlacatl
Battalion—*the pride of the U.S. military team in El Salvador’62—
murdered at least 767 innocent civilians in and around the village of E1
Mozote. At least 207 of those victims were children under the age of
five, and 32 of them were less than a year old. Soldiers of this elite,
U.S.-trained battalion would be the ones to murder the Jesuits eight
years later.s3

The massacre at El Mozote happened just six weeks before President
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Reagan was compelled by act of Congress—if he wanted Congress to
continue military aid to El Salvador—to certify formally that the Sal-
vadoran army was improving its respect for human rights.6* Therefore,
prominent U.S. officials, including Dean Hinton, U.S. ambassador to
El Salvador from May 1981 to July 1983, and Thomas Enders, assistant
secretary of state for inter-American affairs (the latter in sworn testi-
mony before Congress) publicly denied that the incident had taken
place. They did this despite solidly researched newspaper accounts of
the massacre and notwithstanding the word of one of their own em-
bassy officers, Todd Greentree, who reported back from Morazan that
“there very probably had been a massacre.”s°

The evidence contradicting improvement in human rights was mas-
sive and would continue to mount. In the months following the
slaughter at E1 Mozote, the Legal Trustee Office of the archdiocese of
San Salvador verified that government forces or death squads had com-
mitted 2,334 political murders in the first four months of 1982. Two
months later, Americas Watch reported that as of 1 July the number of
victims had risen to 2,829. The Americas Watch report concluded:
“The government of El Salvador deliberately engages in systematic po-
litical murder to advance its interests.” Nonetheless, on 29 January
1982, and again on 29 July 1982, President Reagan officially certified
improvement in the military’s respect for human rights.6

The State Department also succeeded in hiding from Congress clear
evidence of who had planned the assassination of Archbishop Oscar
Romero in March 1980. Within months of the murder the U.S. em-
bassy in San Salvador knew that Robert d’Aubuisson, a former major
trained in the United States, had chaired the meeting at which partici-
pants vied for the privilege of killing the Archbishop. On 6 February
1984, former ambassador Robert White {who had been appointed by
Carter in 1980 and fired by Reagan in 1981) testified before the House
Foreign Affairs Committee that the Reagan administration knew but
“chose to conceal the identity of Archbishop Romero’s murderer.”
White made reference to cable traffic between the U.S. embassy and
the State Department; if revealed, he said, this exchange would “finish
the political fortunes of . . . d’Aubuisson.”¢

Ambassador White testified that

from the first days in office the Reagan White House knew—beyond any reasonable
doubt—that Roberto d’Aubuisson planned and ordered the assassination of Arch-
bishop Oscar Arnulfo Romero. In mid-November of 1980, a particularly brave and
resourceful American diplomat made contact with a Salvadoran military officer
who had participated in the plot to kill Archbishop Romero. This officer was
present at the March 22nd meeting which resulted in the death of Archbishop Ro-
mero on March 24.
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According to this eyewitnessaccount, Roberto d’Aubuisson summoned a group
of about twelve men to a safe house, presided over the meeting, announced the deci-
sion to assassinate the Archbishop and supervised the drawing of lots for the
“honor” of carrying out the plot. The Salvadoran officer informant was disappointed
that the luck of the draw had not favored him. He gave bullets from his gun to the

officer selected in order that he might participate vicariously in the murder of the
Archbishop.68

But the State Department neither released nor acted on the informa-
tion. Instead it went on to broker a deal whereby d’Aubuisson became
president of Salvador’s Constituent Assembly in 1982. Moreover, Rea-
gan officials actually denied they had any proof that d’Aubuisson was
involved in the archbishop’s murder. When Representative Thomas J.
Tauke of Iowa petitioned the State Department for more information
on the matter, he received a letter from the State Department declar-
ing that the information about d’Aubuisson contained in the cables “is
limited and incomplete and no definite conclusions regarding d’Au-
buisson’s involvement can be drawn from it.”69

Years later the State Department declassified the cable in question.
It was sent by White’s successor at the embassy, Dean Hinton, to Sec-
retary of State Alexander Haig on 21 December 1981. The text indi-
cates unambiguously that d’Aubuisson had chaired the meeting to
plan the murder of Archbishop Romero and that one of the accom-
plices in the crime, Walter Antonio Alvarez, was subsequently mur-
dered “by unknown hands.”7°

[Note: The phrase “s-ENTIRE TEXT” may mean: “Secret—entire text.” The term
“REFTEL” may mean “Refer to telex.” The device [.......] indicates lines or words that
were blacked out when the document was declassified. I reproduce the document
here with the same line breaks as in the original.]

P 211817Z DEC 81

FM AMEMBASSY SAN SALVADOR

TO SECSTATE WASHDC PRIORITY 7156

REF: SAN SALVADOR 8084 (80)

SUBJECT: ASSASSINATION OF ARCHBISHOP ROMERO
I.{S-ENTIRE TEXT).

DURING WHICH THE MURDER OF ARCHBISHOP ROMERO WAS PLANNED
[REFTEL). [evirereicnneene | DURING THE MEETING SOME

OF THE PARTICIPANTS DREW LOTS FOR THE PRIVILEGE OF KILLING
THE ARCHBISHOP. [cvovecrreennereicnencerecsnninnions

ASSASSIN} AS “WALTER [........... ]

3 feerenereanen JIDENTIFIED [cvoverrereieiceeicnene
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ALVAREZ. [erveciiiniiaionns

....] ACCORDING TO PRESS

REPORTS SEVERAL GUNMEN TOOK ALVAREZ AWAY FROM A FOOTBALL GAME
ON SEPTEMBER 27, SHOT HIM SEVERAL TIMES AND LEFT HIS BODY ON

THE ROAD WHICH LEADS TO MARIONA PRISON. HE WAS 27 YEARS OLD AND
LEET HIS WIFE, DINORA- AND A SMALL SON.

B [eereieeeinmeeec s

F ! PR weeetsreren] WE BELIEVE

ITIS HIGHLY LIKELY THAT THE ASSASSIN OF ROMERO IS NOW DEAD BY

UNKNOWN HANDS.
HINTON
SECRET73

Despite this information, the State Department was unable to draw
udefinite conclusions regarding d’Aubuisson’s involvement” in the
murder. But the United Nation’s Truth Commission somehow man-
aged to discover, in a mere eighteen months, what the State Depart-
ment could not figure out in a dozen years. On 15 March 1993 the U.N.
Truth Commission Report declared:

The Commission finds the following:

1. Former Major Roberto d’Aubuisson gave the order to assassinate the Arch-
bishop and gave precise instructions to members of his security service, acting as a
“death squad,” to organize and supervise the assassination.

2. Captains Alvaro Saravia and Eduardo Avila, together with Fernando Sagrera
and Mario Molina, were actively involved in planning and carrying out the assas-
sination.

3. Amado Antonio Garay, the driver of former Captain Saravia, was assigned to
drive the gunman to the Chapel. . ..

4. Walter Antonio “Musa” Alvarez, together with former Captain Saravia, was in-
volved in paying the “fees” of the actual assassin. . ..

Garay picked out a 1969 photograph of Mr. Héctor Antonio Regalado, with a
beard drawn on in, as being closest to his description of the gunman. After Saravia,
Regalado had been responsible for d’Aubuisson’s personal security.”

The Reagan and Bush administrations covered up d’Aubuisson’s
role in the murder because they wanted to work with him rather than
oust him. Former vice president Dan Quayle made the point in his
own breezy way. While acknowledging that d’Aubuisson had an “un-
savory reputation,” Quayle writes: “Later in 1989 I met with d’Au-
buisson himself, which gave fits to liberal commentators, but I didn’t
care. He had influence, and if we were going to keep him in line, then
we had to talk to him.”72

Whether or not the Reagan-Bush administrations kept d’Aubuisson



278 Thomas Sheehan

in line, they certainly did work with him. D’Aubuisson had trained in
the United States in 1970—71, both with the cia and at the Interna-
tional Police Academy in Washington pc. {The academy was later
shut down after a Congressional investigation revealed that it taught
its clients how to torture.) As regards d’Aubuisson’s work in El Sal-
vador, the U.S. embassy and the State Department knew perfectly well
that d’Aubuisson had helped found El Salvador’s most active death
squad, the Maximiliano Hernandez Martinez Anti-Communist Bri-
gade (1979)73; that he had planned Archbishop Romero’s murder
(March 1980); that he had plotted a coup d’état against the Salvadoran
ggvemment (May 1980); and that in June 1984 he had plotted to assas-
sinate then U.S. Ambassador to El Salvador Thomas R. Pickering.
(President Reagan personally dispatched Ambassador-at-Large Vernon
Walters to El Salvador to warn d’Aubuisson not to carry out the assas-
sination plot.)

The embassy in El Salvador and the State Department also knew the
names of those who were paying for death squad murders. In his sworn
testimony of 6 February 1984, former ambassador Robert White, recal-
ling cables he had sent from El Salvador to the State Department from
March of 1980 to January of 1981, publicly named the wealthy Sal-
vadoran landowners who, having temporarily left their country for the
safety of Miami, continued to fund the death squads in El Salvador:
“these are the top leadership: [Enrique] Viera Altamirano, Luis Esca-
lante, Arturo Muyshondt, the Salverria brothers {probably Julio and
Juan Ricardo), and Roberto Edgardo Daglio. All are in Miami, hatch
plots, hold constant meetings and communicate instructions t(; D’Au-
buisson.”74

But the American embassy and the State Department did nothing to
bring d’Aubuisson and his handlers to justice. As a close friend and
protégé of Senator Jesse Helms of North Carolina, d’Aubuisson fre-
quently visited the United States, where his legal problems were taken
care of by the Milwaukee law firm of O’Connor and Hannan, while the
firm’s Washington-based partner, Joseph Blatchford, handled public re-
lations for d’Aubuisson in the nation’s capital.”® Back in El Salvador
the State Department saw fit to invite him to such official functions as
a private luncheon for U.N. Ambassador Jeanne Kirkpatrick (February
1983} and a Fourth of July celebration held at the embassy.”¢

Closer to home, another bit of truth {but only the tip of the iceberg)
emerged on 27 January 1988, when a private citizens’ group, the Center
for Constitutional Rights in New York City, announced that it had
broken through the rB1’s code of secrecy and silence. Using the Free-
dom of Information Act, the Center had managed to pry loose 1,200
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pages of documents the FBI had gathered by secret surveillance of more
than two hundred groups of U.S. citizens over six years through wire-
taps, undercover agents, and informants. These 1,200 pages represent
only about one third of the complete file, which, as the F1 itself has
disclosed, runs to 17 volumes and 3,756 pages. The 1, it should be
noted, vigorously denies that this surveillance was an exercise in ha-
rassment designed to stifle dissent.””

The secret investigation began early in 1981, when c1a director Wil-
liam Casey decided El Salvador had become the latest battleground in
the global contest between freedom and communism.’8 With Casey’s
encouragement, the Fa1 under William H. Webster (director, 1978—87)
began spying on a citizen group that strongly opposed U.S. policy: the
Committee in Solidarity with the People of El Salvador (cispEs). The
FBY's goal was to discover whether cispEs was an agent of the Salva-
doran guerrillas.”? At the FBI's Washington headquarters the officersin
charge of the surveillance were Oliver “Buck” Revell, executive assis-
tant director of the ¥81, and Ron Davenport, supervisory special agent,
Salvadoran Terrorism Unit.

Even though the rB1 found that CISPES was neither providing weap-
ons to the Salvadoran rebels nor taking political direction from any
“foreign principles,” and thus supposedly ended the surveillance, the
investigation was resumed in 1983 under the rubric of “counter-terror-
ism.” An apparently typical cable from the ¥B1’s New Orleans office,
dated 1o November 1983, reads:

[Two and a half lines blacked out] IT IS IMPERATIVE AT THIS TIME TO FORMULATE
SOME PLAN OF ATTACK AGAINST CISPES AND SPECIFICALLY: AGAINST INDIVID-
UALS, [thirty-one spaces blacked out] WHO DEFIANTLY DISPLAY THEIR CONTEMPT
FOR THE U.S. GOVERNMENT BY MAKING SPEECHES AND PROPAGANDIZING THEIR
CAUSE WHILE ASKING FOR POLITICAL ASYLUM. .

NEW ORLEANS IS OF THE OPINION THAT DEPARTMENTS OF JUSTICE AND STATE
SHOULD BE CONSULTED TO EXPLORE THE POSSIBILITY OF DEPORTING THESE INDI-
VIDUALS OR AT BEST DENYING THEIR RE-ENTRY ONCE THEY LEAVE.80

It was in that year, 1983, that the FBI investigation began to widen
into a policy of nationwide surveillance of such groups as the Mary-
knoll Sisters, the Sanctuary Movement, the Chicago Interreligious
Task Force, the Sisters of Mercy, Clergy and Laity Concerned, and U.S.
Catholic Conference.!

The tactics of surveillance soon turned into active infiltration and
included the assembling of a “Terrorist Photo Album” by Frank Va-
relli, a contract operative in the FBI'S Dallas office. As documented in
the Congressional Record, the album contained pictures and political
profiles of American citizens and foreigners, such as the following:
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Maryknoll Sister Peggy Healy: The Terrorist Photo Album characterizes Sister
Healy as one of the “frontrunners in preaching the Marxist-Leninist ‘Liberation
Theology,’” and lists her “Terrorist affiliation” as “Pro-Castro. Christian Social-
ist..“ The profile goes on: “In El Salvador as well as Nicaragua, the Maryknoll
priests and nuns are guilty of aiding, protecting and supporting the Communist
terrorists of the FDR-FMLN, [and] FSLN.”

Representative Pat Schroeder: “She is openly working on behalf of the Sandinista

Gover'nment in the us through the NNsnP [National Network in Solidarity with
the Nicaraguan People] and cispes.”

Former ambassador to El Salvador Robert E. White: “He was very instrumental

(in the formation of cispes in the us, and works very closely with Sandy Pollack
CPUSA).”

Archbishop Arturo Rivera y Damas: The “Terrorist affiliation” of the successor
of Archbishop Oscar Romero is listed as “Socialist.”s

The album goes on to characterize the “terrorist tendencies” of Rep-
resentative Michael Barnes and Senators Christopher Dodd and Clai-
borne Pell, and mentions other “pro-Sandinista legislators” such as
Ted Kennedy, Ron Dellums, and Edward Boland. Boland, of course, was
the author of the Boland Amendment, the circumvention of whic’h led
to the Iran-Contra affair.83

In one sense such a photo album is truly funny. But this was the time
when Lt. Col. Oliver North of the National Security Council was se-
cretly working with the Federal Emergency Management Agency
{(FEMA)} to draw up contingency plans to spy on political dissenters and
even, as Ross Gelbspan of the Boston Globe has pointed out, “to ar-
range for the detention of hundreds of thousands of undocu'rnented
aliens in case of an unspecified national emergency . . . [and] the sus-
pension of the Constitution under a number of scenarios, including a
U.S. invasion of Nicaragua.”8 ’

The contingency plans relating to insurrection or national distur-
bances were worked out in meetings between North and Louis O
Guiffrida, director of FEMA, from 1982 to 1984. The martial law provi:
§ions of the plan, part of which was code-named Rex 84, were outlined
in a 30 June 1982 memo written by deputy director of FEMA John

Brinkerhoff. Having obtained and studied a copy of the memo, the
Miami Herald wrote: “The scenario outlined in the Brinkerhoff rn,emo
resembled somewhat a paper Guiffrida had written in 1970 at the
f‘\rmy War College in Carlisle, Pa., in which he advocated martial law
in case of a national uprising by black militants. The paper also advo-
cated the roundup and transfer to ‘assembly centers or relocation
camps’ of at least 21 million ‘American Negroes.’ "85

TW(.) days after the article appeared, Lieutenant Colonel North be-
gan his sworn testimony before Congress in the Iran-Contra matter.
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When Representative Jack Brook of Texas tried to ask North about Rex
84, he was silenced by co-chairman Senator Daniel Inouye because, in
Senator Inouye’s words, “that question touches upon a highly sensi-
tive and classified area.”s¢ No more was heard about the matter.

The FBI's spying allegedly ended in July 1985. However, that date
marks the beginning of a dramatic, nationwide escalation of break-ins
into the offices of churches and citizen groups that opposed the admin-
istration’s policies in Central America. During those break-ins, money
or expensive office equipment was never taken, but files were invaria-
bly rifled and some were stolen. To list but a few incidents:

June 1985: In Los Angeles a list of fifteen hundred donors was stolen from the of-
fices of Amnesty International.
16 July 1985: At University Baptist Church in Seattle, which offered sanctuary to
Central American refugees, the offices of Rev. Donovan Cook were broken into,
keys to the rooms of six Central American refugees were stolen, and files listing
Sanctuary supporters were examined. Later the church’s insurance company
threatened it would dissolve the church’s policy unless the refugees were re-
moved.
25—26 October 1985: The offices of the Central America Refugee Project in Phoe-
nix were broken into twice over the weekend. Telephone logs and clients’ legal
files were copied, but five hundred dollars in cash was left untouched.
4—s5 December 1985: At the Old Cambridge Baptist Church, Cambridge, Massa-
chusetts, the offices of the New Institute of Central America were burglarized for
the fifth time, {The previous break-ins were on 27 November and 18~19 Decem-
ber 1984 and 20~21 April and 13-14 September 1985.) The Cambridge police re-
port states, “The main targets in these breaks were desks and organizational files.”
21—22 May 1986: The Manhattan offices of NACLA (North American Committee
on Latin America) were burglarized just as the Committee was preparing a report
on Oliver North’s role in organizing of a support network for the contras. The of-
ces were ransacked, and files were examined and scattered around the room.
29—30 October 1987: At Georgetown University, the offices of the Central Amer-
ican Historical Institute were burglarized, a file cabinet containing articles and
stories on Central America was broken into. One hundred dollars in cash and a
checkbook, which were in plain view, went undisturbed.?’

The perpetrators of these crimes have never been found. The FBI
denies having anything to do with the break-ins. Once the scandal
about r8I surveillance broke in 1988, FBI director William S. Sessions
admitted that the 198185 part of the operation, conducted under his
predecessor, may have been “not properly directed,” but nonetheless
asserted that it was justified. President Reagan concuzrred in that judg-
ment.%8 .

From the war at home, we return to the war in El Salvador, and the
murder of the Jesuits, in order to note the elaborate cover-up carried
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out by the United States and the government of El Salvador. Within
days of the Jesuit murders, President Cristiani appointed Lt. Col. Man-
uel Antonio Rivas to head up the Special Investigative Unit {sru)
charged with solving the crime. Shortly thereafter, Col. Guillermo Be-
navides, head of El Salvador’s Military Academy, confessed to Rivas
that he had ordered the soldiers to carry out the killings. However,
Rivas told Benavides to forget his confession and to start destroying ev-
idence—both the guns that were used to murder the Jesuits and all
records of the killers’ movements that night. Benavides complied.
From the beginning, Colonel Rivas and the s1u did their utmost to ob-
struct the investigation of the murders.8®

Next, Lieutenant Colonel Rivas, with the assistance of the Ameri-
can embassy in El Salvador and the ¥B1, began intimidating the only
witness to the events, Mrs. Lucia Cerna. On 16 November, from her
lodgings on Calle Cantébrico only thirty meters from the scene of the
crimes, Mrs. Cerna heard several shots on the campus shortly after

1:00 A.M. When she looked out her window, she saw five commandos
in camouflage uniforms firing at the Jesuit residence, and she heard Fa-
ther Martin-Bar, one of the victims, shout at them before he was
shot.?® From another window, her husband Jorge also saw a group of
soldiers. The next morning at about 6:00 A.m. Mrs. Cerna, her hus-
band, and four uca watchmen discovered the bodies of the priests and
reported the crime to the Jesuit provincial, José Maria Tojeira.

~ The Jesuits in El Salvador decided to send Mr. and Mrs. Cerna and
their four-year-old daughter to the United States for their safety and
protection. First, however, the Jesuits took her to the Spanish embassy,
where she gave sworn testimony to a Salvadoran judge, the public
prosecutor, and members of the sTu. France’s state secretary of human-
itarian affairs, who happened to be in San Salvador, agreed to accom-
pany her on the flight to Miami and to deliver her to the French and
Spanish consuls there, who in turn would hand her over to U.S. Jesuit
officials. ‘

The Jesuits intentionally did not inform the American embassy of
their plans, but somehow Ambassador William G. Walker found out.
He had Richard Chidester, legal officer of the embassy, telephone the
Jesuits just hours before the Cernas’ departure on 23 November. Chi-
dester, over the Jesuits’ objections, insisted that he be allowed to ac-
company Mrs. Cerna on the flight to the United States.9!

Chidester brought with him on the flight 81 special agent Edward
Sinchez, When the party arrived in Miami, Chidester, contrary to
what he had agreed to do, did not deliver the Cerna family to the
French and Spanish consuls. Instead he and Sanchez handed them over
to the rB1, who held them in a guarded room at the Radisson Hotel in
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Miami. When the U.S. Jesuits inquired after the Cernas, State Depart-
ment officials told them the rB1 needed time to do a “risk assessment”
to determine how much protection the family might require.

However, each day from Monday, 27 November, through Thursday,
30 November, Chidester and Sanchez took the Cernas to an FBI ofﬁc'e
in Miami where Lucia and her husband were submitted, incommuni-
cado, to an intensive and intimidating interrogation by Sénchez. and
another FBI agent, Fred Rivero. Moreover, Lieutenant Colonel Rlvgs,
who was orchestrating the military cover-up in San Salvador, was in-
vited by Chidester to come to Miami, where he participated in the in-
terrogation of Mrs. Cerna. o

After days of grueling questioning by Rivas and the 81, which in-
cluded insults, intimidation, and implied threats, Mrs. Cerna retracted
her story and said she had seen nothing relevant to the murder of the
Jesuits.?? .

In January 1990, less than two months after the ]esglts had been
killed, U.S. major Eric Buckland, a senior military advisor in El Sal-
vador, gave sworn testimony on three distinct occasions (1- ) that Sal-
vadoran officers had planned and carried out the execution of the
priests, and (2] that he, Buckland, had had prior knowledge—from
three weeks before the killings right up to hours before they were car-
ried out—that the military was going to take out the Jesuits. This was
at a time when Colonel Rivas and the s1u were working overtime to
conceal the perpetrators of the crime. Buckland gave his testimony as
follows. o

On 2 January 1990, six weeks after the murders, Buckland m_formed
his immediate superior, Lt. Col. William C. Hunter Jr., senior uU.S.
advisor to the Salvadoran Joint Command, that Salvadoran colonel
Guillermo Benavides had ordered the Atlacatl commandos to kill the
Jesuits. Buckland had received this information on 20 llDecemb_er 1989
from his good friend, Salvadoran colonel Carlos Avilés, who in turn
had it on excellent authority from Col. Nelson Lopez y Lopez, a mem-
ber of El Salvador’s Joint Command. On 3 January Buckland put the
matter into writing for his superiors, and on 6 January he was flown to

the United States.®®

On 10 and 11 January 1990, in the presence of FBI agents, Buckland
gave sworn testimony that went beyond his earlier statements: he re-
vealed that he himself had had prior knowledge, going back some
weeks before the event, that Benavides and other officers were plan-
ning to murder the Jesuits. Ashe putit, “Avilés told me they wanted to
handle it the old way by killing some of the priests.”**

Testifying on 12 January 1990, now on videotape in the presence of
rBI special agent Paul Cully, Buckland further specified thgt on the af-



284 Thomas Sheehan

ternoon of 15 November, just hours before the kill order was given
Avilés had told Buckland the army was planning to go onto the ]esuié
campus and “clean out the uca.” Special Agent Cully asked Buckland
“What did this mean to you that they were going to go in and clear ou;
the uca?” Buckland replied, “To find out, you know, to get the dirty
people in there.” In addition Buckland told the 81 that he “under-
stood” the military’s “feeling of vengeance” against the Jesuits. That
admission prompted the following exchange:

AGENT CcULLY: So if those killings were to occur, you would have accepted that as a
necessary thing, for the country? )

BUCKLAND: | either accepted it as necessary and I really understood it, okay. You
know, even though it might have been—superfluous isn’t the word—you know, it
might even have been stupid, and I understand, I understood the blood, the blo,od
feeling, but it was their war and it was their country. . . 9 ’

Buckland'’s testimony blew the case wide open. Up until then, the
cover-up had been holding. The American embassy and Presilient
Cristiani were continuing to claim the rMLN had murdered the Je-
suits. What, then, became of Buckland’s explosive testimony?

Let us return for a moment to 2 January, the date of Buckland’s origi-
nal revelation to his superiors. Lt. Col. William Hunter immediately
communicated Buckland’s revelation to the head of the U.S. Military
Group in El Salvador, U.S. colonel Milton Menjivar. That same day,
Menjivar went directly to Col. René Ponce—the very officer who haci
ordered that the Jesuits be murdered—and revealed Buckland’s infor-
mation to him.

Ponce expressed surprise and anger, according to Menjivar, and then
denied knowing anything about it. On the spot Ponce called Avilés,
Lépez y Lopez, Buckland, and Hunter into his office and confronted
them with Buckland’s revelation. Caught between Ponce and Buck-
land, Avilés and Lopez y Lopez vigorously denied any knowledge of the
matter, and Avilés denied having had the 20 December conversation
with Buckland.

Whatever his intentions in the matter, Menjivar, by revealing every-
thing to Ponce, {1} had alerted the chief perpetrator of the crime that
Fhe cover-up was coming unraveled, (2) had dangerously exposed two
important witnesses who might have helped reveal the military’s full
role in the murders, and (3) gave Ponce and his colleagues the informa-
tion and impetus they needed to begin a new cover-up.

The new cover-up began immediately. On s January, three days after
the meeting, the Salvadoran Armed Forces, in private consultation
with American officials, took the extraordinary step of setting up their
own investigative body—the Armed Forces Honor Commission—to
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look into the Jesuit murders. The real purpose of this rump commis-
sion was to prevent the indictments from reaching any higher than
Colonel Benavides: he was to be the fall guy, and higher ranking offi-
cers, especially the High Command, were to be insulated from indict-
ment and trial.

The tactic worked. In less than a week the honor commission came
up with a very limited list of low-ranking suspects—the eight com-
mandos who had actually carried out the murders, plus Benavides,
who had sent them. They and they alone would go to trial. No mem-
bers of the High Command would ever be indicted for ordering the
murder of the Jesuits.?¢

Why did the United States have an interest in limiting the investiga-
tion? Why would the U.S. embassy not want it known that the Sal-
vadoran High Command, rather thanjusta single colonel, had ordered
the killings of the Jesuits? “Because they would have to turn in their
own client,” replies Congressman George Miller, a member of the
House task force investigating the murders. “Their client is the Sal-
vadoran government and the Salvadoran military.” For the Bush ad-
ministration to turn in its client would mean that nine years of war
and $6 billion in aid had been in vain. That was unacceptable.®’

If the sworn testimony Buckland gave in El Salvador implicated the
High Command in the Jesuits’ murder, the information he gave the FB1
in Washington Dc raised serious questions about the role of the United
States. Buckland’s testimony indicated that at least one senior U.S.
military advisor had had prior knowledge of the planned executions—
ranging from weeks to hours before the crime—and had done nothing
about it.

And if Buckland had prior knowledge of the crime, why not other
U.S. military and diplomatic personnel? In the days before the murder
of the Jesuits two other U.S. advisors—Colonel Porter and Major
Lewis—had been working closely with c-2, the Salvadoran Army’s in-
telligence section. Could they too have known the army was planning
the murders? U.S. advisors often had close personal relations with
their Salvadoran counterparts. Many shared offices with them. Buck-
land’s office, and those of Lieutenant Colonel Hunter and other Ameri-
can advisors, were in the annex of the Joint Command Headquarters.
Besides knowing that the executions were being planned, could other
American advisors have also shared Buckland’s “understanding” for
the army’s motives in carrying out the crime? Might they too, like
Buckland, have “accepted it as necessary”?%

Buckland’s prior-knowledge testimony could not be allowed to
stand. The strategy for undoing it was twofold: bury the evidence and
break the witness.
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First, the FBI sent copies of Buckland’s prior-knowledge testi-
mony—Dboth his affidavit of 10—11 January and the videotaped testi-
mony of 12 January—to the U.S. embassy’s legal affairs officer, Richard
Chidester, the very one who, two months earlier, had helped hold Lu-
cia Cerna incommunicado in Miami until she changed her testimony.
The FB1 briefed Chidester and his superiors on the seriousness of the
matter.

Then, instead of passing Buckland'’s testimony on to the Salvadoran
judge in charge of the case, Ambassador Walker, in an extraordinary
move, invited President Cristiani to the ambassador’s private resi-
dence for a secret viewing of the tape. Legal Officer Chidester and Dep-
uty Chief of Mission Jeff Dietrich were also present at the viewing.

Shortly thereafter, U.S. diplomatic and military officials in Wash-
ington and El Salvador decided to bury Buckland’s admission of prior
knowledge. As Martha Doggett, the American lawyer who carried out
the most thorough investigation of the case, puts it: “They decided not
to disclose this information publicly, or to share it with the court.
More than just concealing the evidence, State Department and Penta-
gon officials actually denied its existence when The New York Times
printed rumors suggesting that a U.S. officer had prior knowledge of
the murder plot.”?? But despite the denials the videotape still exists.
The rB1 keeps it logged under the case title “Shooting of Six Jesuit

‘ Priests” at the FBI’s Polygraph Unit, section GRB, Suite 2, file number
00116093 PQI.100

The second part of the strategy entailed breaking Buckland. His ad-
mission of prior knowledge was too explosive; he had to take it back.
And he did. On 14 January, the day after Chidester and Walker had re-
ceived copies of his Washington testimony, Buckland announced at
Fort Bragg that he wanted to change his story. In an article entitled
“Cracking the Major,” Newsweek cited sources in the Bush adminis-
tration who knew what had been done with Buckland:

Newsweek has learned that an American Special Forces officer, who told U.S. au-
thorities in January he knew of Salvador military plans to murder six Jesuit priests
last November, was later pressured by rB1 and State Department officials to recant.
“He was grilled and grilled until he cracked.”

U.S. officials told Newsweek that Buckland’s original statement [in Washington
DC|was “100 percent accurate.” The administration “didn’t want that story to come
out,” sources said, because it wasn’t productive to the conduct of the war.10!

When the administration advised Newsweek to retract the story, the
magazine refused.

Representative Joseph Moakley of Massachusetts, who led the
House task force investigating the murders, thinks he knows how

Friendly Fascism 287

Buckland was pressured into retracting. By admitting prior knowledge
of the crimes, the American major was possibly implicating himselfin
them: he not only knew the murders were being planned but even ex-
pressed understanding for the army’s motives and for why the execu-
tions might be “necessary.” In Moakley’s words, “He couldn’t have
made up all those details [of the Washington revelations). I think what
happened was that after he testified, someone in a legal office some-
where must have pointed out to him that he had incriminated himself.
That’s when he decided to recant.”1%?

On 18 January, in a written affidavit, Buckland retracted those parts
of his previous testimony that indicated prior knowledge of the plot to
kill the Jesuits. He swore: “I donotrecall and am not aware of any spe-
cific information regarding any proposed threat to or attack on the
University of Central America, including any of the Jesuit priests prior
to the incident on November 16, 1989. I wish to specifically retract in-
formation or comments or suggestions made to FB1 agents last week to
that effect.”103 The legalistic language that characterizes Buckland’s
recantation is in marked contrast to the more discursive and even
emotional tenor of his earlier testimony cited above. Moreover, as
Long and Smyth report, after his retraction Buckland took an Fe1 lie
detector test—and failed it. “In answer to the question, ‘Did you have
prior knowledge that the Jesuits would be killed?’ Buckland said no,
and the polygraph indicated ‘deception,’ according to official eI docu-
ments.”’104

Nonetheless, the cover-up worked. Indictments in the case never
reached the Salvadoran High Command, the true perpetrators of the
crime, and the embassy was able to deny that any U.S. advisors in El
Salvador had prior knowledge of the murders or agreed with the mur-
derers’ motives.

In the words of Father Charles Beirne, S.J., Ellacuria’s successor at
the uca, “The Americans were helping to protect the High Command
all along. They were afraid the whole house of cards would fall if the
investigation went any further. They were involved with the cover-up

from the very beginning.”1 The television network CBs got a taste of
that some six months after the murders. When Ed Bradley of Sixty
Minutes went to El Salvador to interview Ambassador Walker about
the military’s role in the crimes, the ambassador secretly taped their
conversation and then sent the cassette across town to Colonel Ponce
to help Ponce prepare for his own interview with Bradley.1%6

The trial for the murder of the six Jesuits, their housekeeper, and her
daughter lasted only three days—26—29 September 1991. The defen-
dants were limited to the eight men hand-picked by the military’s
Honor Commission: Colonel Benavides, plus seven soldiers who
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ranked no higher than lieutenant. The jury found only Colonel Be-
navides and Lt. Yusshy Mendoza guilty of murder. The other six, in-
cluding the confessed triggermen, were absolved of all crimes. On 1
April 1993, under a general amnesty law, Benavides and Mendoza were
released from prison.!%?

Colonel Ponce, the man who ordered the crimes in the first place,
was promoted from colonel to general, and from head of the Joint
Chiefs of Staff to minister of defense. He remained a client of the
United States and continued to serve his country until 30 June 1993,
when he retired with honors and full pension.

Was the U.S. war in El Salvador an exercise in fascism? Surely not, for
the United States is not a fascist country, and neither the Reagan nor
the Bush administration was a fascist regime. But one is left wonder-
ing what the war was really about and why the United States would ex-
pend an extravagant $6 billion on that tiny country.

In the early 1960s, as John F. Kennedy’s anticommunist crusade was
about to unfold in Latin America, Arnold J. Toynbee wrote:

Today America is no longer the inspirer and leader of the World Revolution, and I
have an impression that she is embarrassed and annoyed when she is reminded that
this was her original mission. No one else laid this mission upon America. She
chose it for herself, and for one hundred and forty-two years, reckoning from the

year 1775, she pursued this revolutionary mission with an enthusiasm which has
" proved deservedly infectious.

By contrast, America is today the leader of a world-wide anti-revolutionary
movement in defence of vested interests. She now stands for what Rome stood for.
Rome consistently supported the rich against the poor in all foreign Communities
that fell under her sway; and, since the poor, so far, have always and everywhere
been far more numerous than the rich, Rome’s policy made for inequality, for injus-
tice, and for the least happiness of the greatest number.

America’s decision to adopt Rome’s role has been deliberate, if I have gauged it
right. It has been deliberate, yet, in the spirit that animates this recent American
movement in reverse, I miss the enthusiasm and the confidence that made the old
revolutionary American irresistible.108

Mark Twain took a somewhat different tack. Whereas Toynbee would
put the turning point at the Bolshevik Revolution of 1917 (cf. “one
hundred and forty-two years, reckoning from the year 1775”), Twain
thought the American empire came into its own with the Spanish-
American War. And having followed the speeches of Republican Indi-
ana Senator Albert Jeremiah Beveridge (1862—-1927), Twain was hardly
convinced that Americans were “embarrassed” about becoming anew
Roman empire.
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Twain had read Senator Beveridge's paean to America’s God-given im-
perial mandate, delivered in the well of the Senate on 8 January 1900 dur-
ing a debate on annexing the Philippine Islands. “We will not renounce
our part in the mission of our race,” Beveridge had thundered, “trust-
ees under God, of the civilization of the world.” He believed, as he told
his colleagues, that God had been preparing “the English-speaking and
Teutonic peoples” for this mission for a thousand years.1%°

Beveridge saw America’s mandate as one of blood and business
{Twain took to capitalizing the latter as “Business”), and nowhere did
Beveridge better spell out that mission thanina speech he gave in Bos-
ton at the height of the Spanish-American War, in April 1898: “We are a
conquering race. We must obey our blood and occupy new markets and
if necessary new lands. . . . In the Almighty’s infinite plan . . . debased
civilizations and decaying races (are to disappear] before the higher civ-
ilization of the nobler and more virile types of man. . . . Fate has writ-
ten our policy for us; the trade of the world must and shall be ours.”!1°

Mark Twain’s response to all of this came in February 1901, in an ar-
ticle titled “To the Person Sitting In Darkness.” The United States had
just acquired the Philippine Islands and was engaged in a bloody coun-
terinsurgency war against the Filipinos, who, having just been freed
from Spain, were not anxious to be colonized by America. It was Amer-
ica’s first Vietnam: seventy-five thousand American troops on the
ground, atrocities on both sides, the Americans frequently burning
whole villages to the ground and killing each and every inhabitant.

A strong critic of this counterrevolutionary conflict, Twain ad-
dressed himself with bitter irony to the rebellious Filipinos, whom he
called “the People Who Sit in Darkness” of Psalm 107:10. To them the
imperial United States—or as Twain put it, the “Blessings-of-Civiliza-
tion Trust’—promised the Light of Freedom, Progress, and Civiliza-
tion—in a word, Business. But the question was how to get the mes-
sage across to people who did not want the gift. “The Person Sitting in
Darkness is almost sure to say: ‘There is something curious about
this—curious and unaccountable. There must be two Americas: one
that sets the captive free, and one that takes a once-captive’s new free-
dom away from him. . . .’ Twain paused and addressed to hisreaders a
question that might resonate even today. #Shall we go on conferring
our Civilization upon the peoples that sit in darkness, or shall we give

those poor things a rest? Shall we bang right ahead in our old-time,
loud, pious way, and commit the new century to the game; or shall we
sober up and sit down and think it over first?” He then supplied the an-
swer he thought the “Blessings-of-Civilization Trust” might giveinre-
sponse to his question:
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Extending the Blessings of Civilization to our Brother who Sits in Darkness has
been a good trade and has paid well, on the whole; and there is money in it yet, if
carefully worked. But the People who Sit in Darkness have become suspicious of
the Blessings of Civilization. More, they have begun to examine them. This is not
well. We should say to him:

“There have been lies; yes, but they were told in a good cause. We have been
treacherous; but that was only in order that real good might come out of apparent
evil. True, we have crushed a deceived and confiding people; we have turned against
the weak and the friendless who trusted us; we have debauched America’s honor
and blackened her face before the world; but each detail was for the best.

“Qur Congress and our fifty State Legislatures are members not only of the
Church, but also of the Blessings-of-Civilization Trust. This world-girdling accu-
mulation of trained morals, high principles, and justice, cannot do an unright thing,
an unfair thing, an ungenerous thing, an unclean thing.”

That will convince the Person who Sits in Darkness. And it will give the Busi-
ness a splendid new start.

Twain ended his essay by suggesting that, once the Philippine Is-
lands were conquered and assimilated to the project of Business,
America should adopt a new banner to fly over its far-flung colony:

As for a flag for the Philippine Province, it is easily managed. We can have just our
usual flag, but with the white stripes painted black, and the stars replaced by the
skull and cross-bones.

Progress and Civilization in that country can then have a boom, and will take in
the Persons who are Sitting in Darkness. And we can resume Business as usual at
the old stand.!!
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